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STYLE: Greek Revival; some features of Early and Late Georgian
and Federal.

FABRIC: Handmade brick of native clay; common bond coursing.

SHAPE: 22 story rectangle; 28'x80'.

FOUNDATION: Brick outer foundation; hand hewn main timbers of
sugar pine form inner supports and center foundation. Exten-
sive work done in 1947 to strengthen and reinforce beams and
brick. A low concrete wall with buttresses was added against
the outer rear and S.W. foundation, not visible from front.

EXTERIOR WALLS: Lower front wall was covered with plaster
around 1880 because of the porous nature of the brick and
mortar, and the force of winter storms generally is directly
toward the front of the hotel. The N.E. gable end, originally
clapboard covered, was plastered around 1920 up to the second
story roof line; the rear side in 1947. Original wood clap-
board siding covers the S.W. gable end, has been repaired in
several places and in poor condition. Dentilled cornice across
front. Plaster is painted subdued bronze, trim is white.

ROOF: Roof is high gable, decending from the ridge in a curve;
wood shingled with projecting eaves. Four chimneys are built
into the brick walls of gabled parapets, two at each end of the
hotel, and project above the clapboard siding. Three of the
original chimneys remain and they are in poor condition; the
mortar has eroded considerably. A small wood-shingled dormer
with overhanging gable was added to the center front of the
roof about 1940, and three to the rear which are out of sight.

VERANDA: Roof in front extends to cover a two-story open ver-
anda. Plain squared wood post supports have been replaced many
times, but duplicate the originals except that molding trimmed
the top and bottom of each post originally. Upper veranda rail
ing is made of plain, flat wood slat ballusters, reproducing
the original appearance. Original board walk on ground floor
was replaced with concrete around 1930.

WINDOWS: Window openings are flat, with radiating brick at
top; plain trim, bottom slipsill. Windows are double-~hung,
2 sash, 6/6 lights, thin muntins. All front windows but two
are original or reproductions. Four at rear and side were
closed half-way around 1950.

DOORS: Two doorways and double doors on second floor are
original. Flat radiating brick at top opening, double doors

of wood with lower panels and tall rectangular glass upper
section composed of three lights, thin muntins. Three door-
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

ARCHITECTURE: The Woodleaf Hotel is basically Greek Revival
with some features of Georgian and Federal styles. Brick
making began at the site in 1856 by Josegh P. Wood, a build-
er from San Francisco and Ohio, and e hotel was completed
in 1858.

The most prominent feature identifying it as Greek Revival
is the two story veranda with regularly spaced plain posts
and ballusters. This had strong appeal in the Western fron-
tier and gold rush country, where the style had spread from
its origin in the Eastern states in 1820-40.

An unusual feature is the roof that decends from the ridge
in a curve, an adaptation of the Flemish Sweep (curved eaves)
which developed in New York and New Jersey during the 17t
and 18% centuries and was later occagionally used with Greek
Revival architecture.

The well-balanced facade is not rigidly formal but shows a
practical adaptation of early Colonial and Georgian influ-
ence. Windows and doors are balanced vertically in the two
stories and spaced evenly horizontally. The 6/6 light win-
dows with very thin muntins are considered Greek Revival, as
are the wood paneled doors with applied strips of molding
around the panels, showing the use of newly available mill-
work even in remote areas.

One feature defined as Early Georgian is the dentilled corn-
ice across the front. The practical center hall and stair-
way originated with the Late Georgian style and was used in
some of the Northern States' interpretation of Greek Revival.

The curved walls in the round room on the second floor and
the curved ceiling on the top floor are derived from the
Federal or Adam style. The twin chimneys at each end with
gabled parapets, unusual in this area, are also character-
istic of the Federal period.

The Woodleaf Hotel is a unique mixture of styles, the feat-
ures skillfully combined in graceful proportion and design.

(See continuation sheet #2
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ways on the main floor were changed around 1900 from 9 foot high
openings to accommodate shorter, more practical doors. Single
light transoms were installed above each doorway. Two sets of
double doors were replaced in 1968 with reproductions of the old
ones. Doors are wood, with lower panels and rectangular glass
upper section composed of 6 lights. The third set of doors on
the main floor was changed around 1945 to a single door because
of the necessity to lock it securely. The door is wood with
lower panels and upper rectangular glass light.

MAJOR EXTERIOR ADDITIONS: A two story addition for restrooms
was built on the rear side in 1945, not visible from front.
Fire escape on N.E. Gable end.

INTERIOR: The interior has undergone many changes and very lit-
tle of the original appearance is evident. However, most basic
walls remain of hand split lath and plaster, wallpapered, though
covered with various materials. All molding and doors were
originally painted with false wood graining, long since painted
over. Center hall and stairway has turned newel post and bal-
lusters. Second floor railing and ballusters around the stair-
well are missing, replaced with plain square posts and rail.

One room on second floor is rounded on the two sides facing the
hall. Two fireplaces in each gable end in both upper and lower
floors; all but two are covered over. Top floor room has cur-
vedteiling under the roof, panelled in very narrow tongue and
groove wood. Flooring was originally red fir; covered with
narrow oak flooring in the 1870's.
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The only remaining brick building of this style in the Northern
Mines region of California, it is an outstanding example of
early California architecture.

The front of the building retaim a high degree of integrity as
comparisons with early photographs will show. The few major
additions are out of sight to the rear, and changes to the front
are fairly incidental to the overall appearance and style. The
building is in its original location, fronted by well-kept
grounds. Directly across the road is the Falck House, home of
the hotel proprietor in the early days, the exterior restored

to its original appearance. To the left of the hotel a ten foot
high wall screens the service area between the hotel and adja-
cent dining hall., A facade was added to the dining hall, design-
ed to enhance the style of the hotel. The buildings and wall
are painted in subdued tones, trimmed in white. The overall
appearance and atmosphere is aesthetically pleasing and in keep-
ing with the style of the era.

COMMERCE AND TRANSPORTATION: Prior to 1850 only a few miners
traveled the trail on the pass between the Yuba and Feather
rivers. That year Stoddard's search for "Gold Lake" led several
thousand people through the area and resulted in the discovery
and opening of the rich mining country surrounding La Porte,
Gibsonville and Poker Flat in the high Sierra. This established
a trade route that progressively became more important as the
onrush of gold seekers increased.

The first main road into the area was built in 1851 from Marys-
ville to Barker House and initiated the building of Woodville
House at that site in 1856-58. It was conveniently located
about midway between the origin of the route at Marysville, and
the terminous at La Porte, taking in the steamship and stage-
coach travel of the valley.

With the completion of the Central Turnpike between Marysville
and Woodville in 1860 the hotel became a main overnight stage
stop. The fierce rivalry between Oroville and Marysville for
trade led to the building of the Oroville-Woodville Pike in 1865,
the last mile running parallel close to the Central Turnpike.
This again increased traffic and the importance of the hotel,
being at the junction of two turnpikes leading up the pass.

The hotel continued to play a major part in the commerce and
travel of the area until the decline of the mining industry in
the 1880's. This resulted in greatly diminished traffic and
business for the hotel, typical of other gold rush areas, and it
faded from prominence.
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